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THE ANCIENT PORT OF LYMINGTON

y BRYAN LITTLE

1.—THE SALTERNS WITH THE

OWADAYS it is far from easy to envisage

a time when between PPoole Harbour and
Southampton Water no larger places
existed than Christchurch, Milford and Lym-
ington. Yet a century and a half ago no
Bournemouth had come into being, and on the
New lorest side of Christchurch the coastal
strip had yet to witness the dire subtopia that
has now swept most of the way from the mouth
of the Salisbury Avon to the outskirts of the old
town of Lymington itself. But when one reaches
old Lymington (a mere scgment of the vastly
expanded modern borough) the picture is far
more that of an ancient town that has, for

2.—LOOKING UP RIVER FROM THE

TIDE

EBBING.

centuries and in varying ways, made all or part
of its living from its sinuous river haven and
from the tidal flats that stretch down to the
waters of the still unsullied Solent.

Like many of our old seaports, the town of
Lymington was once the seaward limb of an
older, more rustic parish. In Lymington’s case
that older settlement was Boldre, two miles up
the Lymington River or Boldre Water; till 1870
the status of Lymington's large church was only
that of Boldre’s chapel of ease. In the Middle
Ages, however, the port and manorial borough of
Lymington ran far ahead of the town's ecclesias-
tical status. The main factor in local prosperity

YACHT CLUB.

coming in

One of the Isle of Wight ferries is

..

The Yacht Club is on the right and the Isle of Wight in the distance

was salt; the manorial lords who granted
Lymington its civic privileges were the succes-
sive Redvers or Courtenay holders of the
earldom of Devon.

It was Richarll de Redvers, the father of
Baldwin de Redvers, the first holder of the
Devon earldom, who obtained the grant of

Lymington from Henry 1. Along with it went
Christchurch and the lordship of the Isle of
Wight. Thus the Redvers family, already own-
ing great estates in Devon, were also established
as powerful figures in the highly strategic area
of the coast commanding the most convenient
approach to Southampton Water. They soon
became  the founders both of
Plympton  and  Christchurch
priories. About 1200 William de
Redvers gave its first charter to
the borough of Lymington, which
must already have become a
harbour-side town of some conse-
quence. Isabella de Fortibus, the
last of the Redvers line, disposed
of many of her family’s Hampshire
holdings to the King. But Lym-
ington, with a few interruptions,
remained  for some three more
centuries  with the Conrtenays,
who succeeded to the earldom of
Devon, and the Courtenay arms
are those that hang from the
mainmast of the mediweval ship n
the town’s arms. As a borough
Lymington long sent its Members
to the unreformed House of
Commons; among them were the
historian Gibbon, and the father
of Cardinal Manning.

Medimval Lymington spread
back, up the steep beginning of the
hillside and then over its more
gentle slope, from the focal point
of its Town Quay; a few quay-side
buildings like the Stone Cellar still
show some rough stonework that
may be of so early a date. The
prosperity of lLymington was
doubly based. The quay was the
place for the handling of ship-
borne merchandise. Down river
the estuarine flats were divided
into the expanses of the salterns
(Fig. 1), which for centuries pro-
duced a good proportion of the
salt consumed in the southern
counties of England. The town,
like other Channel ports, would
send off its ships on royal service.
As a rival of Southampton, it
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3.—THE EAST END OF THE CHURCH

shared in the wine trade, and it acted as a port
for Salisbury. New Forest timber was among
the cargoes shipped out from the little quay,
but no commodity was more tvpical of Lym
ington, or more important for its welfare, than
locally produced salt.

Some of the flat expanses of Lymington's
sulterns were close to the town, but for the
most part they were spread over the wide flats
between Lymington itself and Keyhaven or
Hurst Castle. Production was by means of
open-air evaporation in the wide, shallow
pans, and then by boiling, which was the final
process by which the briny water was treated
indoors to become a fine powdery salt of excel-
lent quality. The water would evaporate in the
open air till it attained seven times its natural
y. It was then drawn off into rows ol
llow, oblong trays, and these trays, in the
salty steam of the barnlike salthouses, were
kept boiling, over fierce fires that never went
out from Monday morning to Saturday night,
till the solid salt conld be raked away for final
drying. Like the sugarhouses of Bristol, the
salthou of Lymington were something to

4

AND
STREET FROM

A GROUP OF
THE LOWER END
show visitors. Celia Fiennes has given us an
excellent description of them in the 1690s. When
Rowlandson came in 1782, his drawing of the
inside of a salthouse was among the most vivid
of those with which he graphically recorded
Georgian Lymington. Some of the salthouses
would have nearly 30 trays at work; they
stood, as one now disused for such purposes still
stands, at the end of lodes cut in from the open
estuary to bring them their coal and bricks and
to take away their salt. About 1804, when the
Lymington salterns were beginning to decline,
they still made about five thousand tons of salt a
vear, most of it for consumers in this country, but
some of it sent out to Newfoundland for use in
the curing of the salted cod produced there by
the fishermen of Poole. But in time the com-
petition of Cheshire’s mineral salt proved over-
whelming, and in 1865 the last Lymington
saltern raked out its final pans.

In our own century the salterns of Lymi
ton are no more than a place name (in Kir

Saltern Road, for example) and a historic
memory. More obvious are the activities of

Lymington as a shopping centre and as a famous

1960

GEORGIAN HOUSES.

(Right)y 4.—LOOKING UP THE HIGH

yachting port. I'or the first of the two we have,
in the main, to walk from one end to the other of
Lymington’s spacious High Street (Iig, 4). The
curvature of its profile, flat for some way at the
top, and then the slightest of downward
gradients before o steep drop towards the river,
prevents one from scanning the whole length of
this street at ond glance. Only in the topmost
section does one fully enjoy the admirable sense
of defined enclosure that is caused by the
position of the church, not sited away to one
side of the street but endways athwart its
castern end. So there is no complete vista as one
looks west past the delightful Georgian houses
of the upper town. The kink in the road and the

tower and east windows of the church arrest
one’s glance and demand an architectural
inspection.

The church of Lymington was dedicated
to St. Thomas the Apostle, not to Becket, who
was later honoured as its patron. Its architec-
tural changes have been strongly pronounced.
Embedded in the chancel’s masonry are some
graceful 13th-century lancets: the “*Decorated”
north chapel was built by the Courtenays. The

5.—MONMOUTH HOUSE AND QUADRILLE COURT NEAR THE CHURCH. (Righty 6.—PROTRUDING BAYS AND BOWS ON

QUAY HILL, THE STEEP COBBLED STREET DESC

NDING TO THE HARBOUR
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10, THE YACHT CLUB AND PIER.

(Right) 11.—THE

HARBOUR MASTER'S

OFFICLE.

This hexagonal buading of 1833 was

originally one of the bath howses for indoor bathing

lupped 10 the l1sle nf Wight, one Jooks along the
nver gaily \ulln yachts and smalley
craft. A lietle « hill the "“tolerable
1heroughfare” (to q nnl- a loeal writer of 1825]
of Captains’ Row has charmang little
perhaps of about 1730, for retined
Round the corner, of i rather Eater date
“neat and uniform terrace” of Nelson Pla
7) with its prospect towards the lsle of Wight,

howuses,

skip

Down river one posses the building vards
amd the Harbour Station, whence rectangular

car ferries ply gingerly down the {: and =o
st the many swaying masts of the vachts at
anchor. For yvachting, above all, is now the
mainstay of the estuary that once shipped
little but salt

Ty 1830 the worne trade of
had fallen on evil days. A ce
building of a solid dam, or cause

Lymungton
earlier, the
v, across the

tidal stream had caused the lawsuit that
brought the jovial Charles Colbourne o Lym-
mgton,  The case went against those who

abjected to the dam, and the absence
of i tidal flow silted up the niver and for
long rumned it capacity 1o receive
ships as large as 500 tons, Compensa
tions had thus to be found. They came
in Lymington’s attractions as a residen
tinl neighbourhood, as o minor watering
place, and still more from its eventual
yachting fume.

A reasonable nearncss 1o
mouth and its views over the
e lh passing stops nacde o
¢ attraction for I|||| pay
ot um-mph- ol Naval officers who
looked for a home Hehind the
town the New Foreat had charms
both residents and vistors, For these
lnst thesalt water baths weredey
Nor bathing was possible in the
itself, but, as at Southampton, =
water was pumped to indoor baths and
there be + available srrespective of
tide or 8

The o« |l||~ st of the bath howses
no longer stand. But the one near the
modemn Yacht Cluby, now used by the
Harbour Master, is a must admirable
little building of 1833, hexag al, with
projecting wings and a Roman Dork
portico (Fig. 11). The architect, who is
otherwise unknown to fame but
may have been responsible for the
it Church and Grosvenor House,
was named William Bartlett

When this bath house down by
the estuary and the salterns was built
mington had started on s career as
A vachting haven. Merchantmen and 12.
revenue cutters had long been buiit

Ports-
Salent
oan

ashore

THE
HARRY BURRARD-NEALE.

there, and then a new impetos came from an
mportant private source.  Joseph Weld, of
Lulworth Castle, had  recently succesded 10

vhich had been made
owerd elder brother
s the clencal career tha
mn.L( ardinal, The Welds had <
honse at Pylewell, not far on the castern side of
the river's moutly; 1t Decame Joseph Weld
chief summer sendezvous [or his passionately
pursuet hobby of yachiting  In 1820 Weld
started to bulld @ vacht at has private hard, bat
be Jater moved his operations to Lymington
itsell

He was there joined by many well placed
vachting friends whose requirements fur new
vessels  could  give ample work to a local
binlding  trade Ihomas Inman securely
established his famous yard. For Joseph Weld
he finished or hult the Arow, Lefeortd and
Adarpwe, which all won great fame. These vessols,
along with others for prommnent owners, lor &

s family estite
o him by his wi

Thomas,

OBELISK COMMEMORATING ADMIRAL SIR

Designed by George Draper

e made Lymington England’s chict yvache-
Dailding port. 11 mow shares the work with many
othier barbours in the Solent aves and elsewhars,
untains o high place among the vachring
s ol the South Coast

Qur kast visitug
stsell bt on the tle Walhampt
acrss the nver, t-llom-h‘k which
rises in the middle distance exactly in line watl
the descending High Street [Fig, 12, When
Joseph Wekd was baldi st mcing cutters
at [.wymington, the leac naval resident was
Admiral Sir Harry Burrand le, He was a
baranet, who had added the e name to his
own and held the place in local socwety long held
by the Burrar Walhampton. He was often
an M.P. for Lymington ot a time when the
Burrand dominance of the borough wis past
challenge

His vaval carver of some ds-
tincuon; s glonous peak was in 1797 when
at the mutiny at the Nore his shap, the frigate
.\'lll.}‘::'llll-_’.". was the only ueit in the
flect wherein lovalty was unbroken,
For this achievement, as we nnd from
the obelisk's interesting  if
inscriptions,
the friends

ot not i

un..l b the

had boen

thanks of the City
1797 the San  Fiore the
man-of-war in which e
Roval was taken over the Con
tinent on her wav to be Cueen
of Wurtembuerg, amd years
l.:l-.., Sir Hany twice egtertaned
wge TH, Queen Chaddotts, and a

v of the voung princesses at his
Walhampton heme

The Admiral died in 1880, and o
commemaorate him  the olglisk  was
put up on o site that was scenically
approached, from the nver suh
charming avenue of tr
concave corvdee amd ow
devices, it iv of mar
type, and a handson

who
Academy
gned various buikl-
urhood of South
ampton llx- m wits partly fouml
by local '.-xrplu- but roval (rlepds were
ot upmnadfal of Sir Harry, and the
plagues inform us that «

its arc hitect,

n;.:.-» in

1 lions

came ala fro tuos of Georee 111s
survivang  daughters,  the  Princess
Augrusta and the Dochess of Glowscester,
anxt fraom the Dowager Chueen
A private p 1 cannet o
been so honowred by such con

sortium of roval lae





